S263180

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MATTHEW BOERMEESTER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

AINSLEY CARRY et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION EIGHT CASE NO. B290675

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

BETH J. JAY (BAR No. 53820)

SAN FRANCISCO OFFICE

JEREMY B. ROSEN (BAR No. 192473)

MARK A. KRESSEL (BAR No. 254933)

*SCOTT P. DIXLER (BAR No. 298800)

SARAH E. HAMILL (BAR No. 328898)

BURBANK OFFICE

 $3601\ West\ Olive\ Avenue,\ 8th\ Floor\\ Burbank,\ California\ 91505-4681\\ (818)\ 995-0800\ \bullet\ FAX:\ (844)\ 497-6592$

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Under what circumstances, if any, does the common law right to fair procedure require a private university to afford a student who is the subject of a disciplinary proceeding with the opportunity to utilize certain procedural processes, such as cross-examination of witnesses at a live hearing?
- 2. Did the student who was the subject of the disciplinary proceeding in this matter waive or forfeit any right he may have had to cross-examine witnesses at a live hearing?
- 3. Assuming it was error for the university to fail to provide the accused student with the opportunity to cross-examine witnesses at a live hearing in this matter, was the error harmless?
- 4. What effect, if any, does Senate Bill No. 493 (2019-2020 Reg. Sess.) have on the resolution of the issues presented by this case?

INTRODUCTION

University of Southern California (USC) student Matthew Boermeester violated USC's domestic violence policy by grabbing his ex-girlfriend, fellow USC student Jane Roe, by the neck and pushing her forcefully against a wall. Eyewitnesses saw the incident, and it was captured on surveillance video. USC gave Boermeester notice of the allegations against him and conducted a thorough investigation. Boermeester had ample opportunity to review and respond to the evidence, including the opportunity to

pose questions for Roe. After USC considered the evidence and provided Boermeester with multiple layers of review, USC expelled him. USC's procedures exceeded the basic fairness required by the common law. Nonetheless, a divided panel of the Court of Appeal disagreed and ordered the trial court to set aside the expulsion, concluding that the administrative hearing did not provide sufficient procedural safeguards.

Most importantly, and of significance far beyond this case, the Court of Appeal erred in concluding that USC violated Boermeester's common law right to fair procedure. This Court has long held that fair administrative hearing procedure provided by private organizations requires only "rudimentary procedural and substantive fairness." (Ezekial v. Winkley (1977) 20 Cal.3d 267, 278 (Ezekial).) In recent years, however, decisions of the Court of Appeal have moved beyond that principle, importing constitutional due process rules to regulate non-state actors and requiring universities to provide an increasingly burdensome array of litigation-like procedures in student discipline cases arising from allegations of sexual misconduct. The divided decision in this case went further still, requiring cross-examination at a live hearing in the context of a different kind of case: domestic violence.

These decisions are wrong, and contrary to this Court's jurisprudence. Common law fair procedure is a flexible concept that leaves to private organizations, not courts, the primary responsibility for ensuring basic fairness in their internal membership and disciplinary matters, which means notice and

an opportunity to respond. Principles of constitutional due process, which govern only state action, have no bearing in evaluating the fairness of private university disciplinary proceedings.

As part of its expansion of rights to be afforded to students accused of domestic violence, the Court of Appeal majority held that USC was required to provide Boermeester with live cross-examination of witnesses, including Roe. Boermeester, however, never requested a live hearing with cross-examination rights because he knew doing so would not help his case. Indeed, when USC invited him to submit written questions for Roe, Boermeester affirmatively told USC that he did not want Roe to appear for in-person questioning. Thus, even if Boermeester were entitled to additional process—which he was not—he waived this claim.

Moreover, any procedural error was harmless on this record because a live hearing with cross-examination could not have helped Boermeester's case. Boermeester himself admitted that he grabbed and pushed Roe, and intent to harm is not relevant under USC's domestic violence policy. The incident was also captured on surveillance video and seen by other eyewitnesses. A live hearing with cross-examination would have made no difference to USC's disciplinary determination or its consequences because the facts that Boermeester grabbed and pushed Roe were undisputed.

Finally, by passing Senate Bill No. 493 (2019-2020 Reg. Sess.) (SB 493), the Legislature recently recognized the

unacceptable costs of requiring universities to conduct mini-trials in sexual misconduct and domestic violence cases. SB 493 clarified that universities themselves must decide whether to provide live hearings with indirect cross-examination in such cases. The Legislature also expressly superseded any case law imposing requirements beyond those established in SB 493, which includes the law as provided in recent appellate decisions that have required universities to conduct adversarial hearings in sexual misconduct cases. Thus, the Legislature expressly rejected the trend of recent appellate decisions, such as the one at issue here, that have expanded the requirements of fair university hearings far beyond their common law basis. This Court should use this case to make clear that the Court of Appeal's decision here is both inconsistent with SB 493 and with the common law of fair procedure independent of SB 493.

For all of these reasons, this Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Matthew Boermeester grabs Jane Roe's neck and pushes her against a wall.

USC students Matthew Boermeester and Jane Roe¹ dated for about seven months. (1 AR 186.) After breaking up, they lived together in Roe's apartment. (1 AR 185-186.)

15

Like the Court of Appeal, we refer to Roe pseudonymously. (See *Boermeester v. Carry* (2020) 49 Cal.App.5th 682, 686, fn. 1 (*Boermeester*).)

In the early hours of January 21, 2017, Boermeester called Roe because he wanted her to pick him up from a party.

(1 AR 184.) She obliged. (*Ibid.*) He was the drunkest she had ever seen him. (*Ibid.*)

When they returned home, they went to a nearby alley with Roe's dog. (1 AR 184.) In the alley, Boermeester told Roe to let go of the dog's leash, but Roe refused. (*Ibid.*) Boermeester then grabbed Roe's hair hard and ordered her to "'drop the fucking leash.'" (*Ibid.*) He grabbed her harder when she again refused, and then she dropped the leash. (*Ibid.*)

Boermeester grabbed Roe by the neck, and she coughed. (1 AR 184.) He then let go and laughed. (*Ibid.*) Boermeester again grabbed Roe by her neck and pushed her forcefully against a concrete wall. (*Ibid.*) When her head hit the wall, he let go and then grabbed and pushed her again. (*Ibid.*) A neighbor entered the alley after hearing disturbing noises; Boermeester told him they were playing around. (*Ibid.*)

B. An eyewitness reports Boermeester's misconduct and USC opens an investigation.

Two fellow students saw the January 21 incident.

(1 AR 85, 95.) One of the eyewitnesses reported it to a USC tennis coach, and USC's Title IX Office opened an investigation.

(1 AR 1, 95, 126.)

USC's policy against "Student Misconduct—Sexual, Interpersonal and Protected Class Misconduct" then, as now, prohibited domestic violence, which it called intimate partner violence. (2 AR 486-487.) The policy required USC to conduct a neutral investigation to evaluate whether a preponderance of the evidence overcame the presumption of non-responsibility. (2 AR 487-488.)

USC's Title IX Investigator, Lauren Elan Helsper, began an investigation. (1 AR 1.) She interviewed Roe, and Roe confirmed that Boermeester grabbed her by the neck and pushed her against a wall. (1 AR 184.)

Roe told Helsper that Boermeester had previously given her bruises, and that her father wanted her to get a restraining order against him. (1 AR 183.) Roe explained that when she "doesn't do what [Boermeester] wants she gets bruised." (1 AR 184.) Roe said that Boermeester "wouldn't leave" her apartment, and that when she asked him why he stayed with her, he responded that he could do whatever he wanted and she should shut up. (1 AR 183.) Roe told Helsper that Boermeester said he wouldn't feel bad if he hurt her, because "'it would have been brought on by her.'" (*Ibid.*) She said his physical conduct towards her had become more frequent and "'more hurtful'" over the course of their relationship. (1 AR 186.)

USC offered to provide emergency housing to Roe so she could avoid contact with Boermeester, and Roe accepted the offer because she wanted "to feel safe." (1 AR 188.) Roe worried about Boermeester's anticipated reaction to the investigation, and she told Helsper that she was concerned that Boermeester would think she was pressing charges or that she had met with investigators. (1 AR 154-156.)

C. USC notifies Boermeester of the allegations against him and conducts a thorough investigation; Roe recants.

USC served Boermeester with a notice of investigation, an avoidance-of-contact order directing him to stay away from Roe, and a notice of interim suspension. (1 AR 4; 2 AR 470-473.) USC informed Boermeester in writing that a report had been made indicating that he violated the school's policy prohibiting domestic violence by grabbing Roe's neck and pushing her against a wall on January 21. (2 AR 470.)

Helsper then interviewed Boermeester, who admitted that he put his hand on Roe's neck. (1 AR 172-174, 179.) Boermeester also admitted that he "pushed and grabbed" Roe, but he claimed that the pushing and grabbing was a "sexual thing" and playful. (1 AR 60, 173.)

Shortly after USC began its investigation, Roe recanted her initial complaint. (1 AR 12-13, 168-169.) Roe was worried that Boermeester might retaliate against her. (1 AR 12.) Roe said she did not want him to be angry at her, and she asked USC to lift the avoidance of contact order. (1 AR 168-169.) She said Boermeester was "'like my best friend,'" and she feared losing him. (1 AR 168.) She wanted the investigation dropped. (1 AR 158, 168-169.)

Roe also recanted in public. In response to media reports, she tweeted that "[t]he report is false." (1 AR 14.)

Helsper interviewed the eyewitnesses, who corroborated details from Roe's initial account. (1 AR 85, 95.) After first downplaying what he saw (1 AR 131), one eyewitness told

Helsper that he saw Boermeester with his hands around Roe's neck (1 AR 85). This eyewitness saw Boermeester push Roe against the wall, and he heard Roe make gagging sounds. (*Ibid.*) Another eyewitness observed Boermeester pinning Roe against the wall. (1 AR 95.)

Helsper also interviewed Roe's friends, including those with whom Roe spoke shortly after the incident. (1 AR 92-93, 133-135.) Roe's friends said she told them Boermeester threw her against the wall, hurt her, and scared her. (1 AR 93, 133.) Roe's friends confirmed that Roe and Boermeester had a volatile relationship and that they would call each other demeaning names. (1 AR 18-22, 25-30, 151-153, 165-166.) Roe told her friends that he gave her bruises. (1 AR 19, 25.) She also told her friends that she and Boermeester had been in contact even though USC had directed Boermeester to avoid such contact. (1 AR 53-54.)

In addition to conducting interviews, Helsper reviewed surveillance footage of the incident. (1 AR 43-45.) The surveillance footage corroborated Roe's initial account that Boermeester grabbed her and pushed her. (1 AR 43-45; 6 CT 1161-1162.)

D. USC affords Boermeester the opportunity to tell his side of the story and pose questions for Roe, but Boermeester does not request live cross-examination or appear at his hearing.

Under its policy, USC presumed Boermeester was not responsible for the alleged misconduct. (2 AR 487.) That

presumption could be overcome if a preponderance of the evidence showed he committed the misconduct. (2 AR 487-488.)

USC's policy gave Boermeester the right to review the evidence against him. (2 AR 492-493.) He did so with the assistance of counsel. (1 AR 47-48, 89, 291, 301.)

USC's policy also afforded both Boermeester and Roe the opportunity to appear at separate in-person hearings, which would give them the opportunity to respond to the evidence. (2 AR 493.) USC's policy afforded Boermeester the right to submit questions in advance for USC's Title IX Coordinator to ask Roe. (2 AR 492-493.) But Boermeester declined to submit any questions for Roe, nor did he request live cross-examination or any similar procedure. (1 AR 291-295, 296.) Boermeester's lawyer told USC that "I am not interested in having [Roe] come in and being put on the spot yet again." (1 AR 293.)

Boermeester also never sought to pose questions to witnesses other than Roe, either in writing or in person.

Boermeester declined to attend his hearing in person, electing instead to submit a written statement. (1 AR 59-66, 291, 293.)

E. USC concludes that Boermeester violated its domestic violence policy and, after affording Boermeester multiple layers of review, expels him.

After considering all of the evidence, Helsper determined that Boermeester violated USC policy by (1) committing domestic violence, and (2) continuing to contact Roe after USC directed him to avoid contact with her. (1 AR 54.) A three-member Misconduct Sanctioning Panel recommended expulsion.

(1 AR 81-82; 2 AR 493.) Boermeester appealed to USC's final decisionmaker, Vice President for Student Affairs Dr. Ainsley Carry, who reviewed the case, including the recommendation of an Appeal Panel. (1 AR 197-208, 215-220; 2 AR 494-496.) Dr. Carry agreed that Boermeester should be expelled. (1 AR 221-222.)

F. Boermeester petitions unsuccessfully for a writ of mandate.

Following his expulsion, Boermeester filed a petition for writ of mandamus in Los Angeles Superior Court. (1 CT 6-208; 2 CT 209-309.) The superior court denied the petition. (2 RT 1514; 6 CT 1129-1151.) Boermeester appealed. (6 CT 1237.)

G. The Court of Appeal reverses in a divided decision. This Court depublishes the opinion and grants review.

In a divided, published opinion, the Court of Appeal majority concluded that USC deprived Boermeester of his common law right to fair procedure and directed the trial court to grant his petition for writ of mandate and set aside his expulsion. (Boermeester, supra, 49 Cal.App.5th at pp. 708-709.) In doing so, the majority relied on recent intermediate appellate decisions imposing procedural requirements on private institutions like USC and on cases addressing procedures at public universities. (Id. at pp. 698-699.)

In a footnote, the majority noted a split of authority regarding the applicability of constitutional due process jurisprudence to private universities. (*Boermeester*, *supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 698, fn. 7.) The majority stated, without

further explanation, that "[i]n either case, we may rely on cases involving public university disciplinary proceedings." (*Ibid.*)

On the merits, the majority held that USC's procedures were deficient because USC did not provide Boermeester with an in-person hearing featuring cross-examination of key witnesses. (Boermeester, supra, 49 Cal.App.5th at pp. 705-706.) The majority faulted USC for not (1) giving Boermeester the opportunity to attend Roe's hearing either in person or via videoconference, (2) giving Boermeester the opportunity to cross-examine third-party witnesses, and (3) allowing Boermeester to ask Roe follow-up questions. (Ibid.)

The majority concluded that these procedural deficiencies were not harmless because "this case rests on witness credibility." (*Boermeester*, *supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 708.) The court so held despite the facts that Boermeester declined to seek cross-examination or submit questions for Roe; the abuse occurred in public; and the abuse was corroborated by other witnesses, including the victim in her original detailed statement, and a surveillance video. (*Ibid.*; see *id.* at pp. 686, 694, 700-703, 705-708.)

In dissent, Justice Wiley concluded that "[s]ubstantial evidence shows [Boermeester] committed domestic violence," and "USC's investigation was thorough and fair." (*Boermeester*, supra, 49 Cal.App.5th at pp. 709, 713 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.).)

He concluded that Boermeester waived the crossexamination issue because he made the strategic decision not to submit cross-examination questions for Roe. (*Boermeester*, *supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at pp. 714-715 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.).) This was because Roe had already recanted and cross-examination could only harm Boermeester's case. (*Id.* at pp. 714-716 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.).) Justice Wiley also noted that Boermeester sensibly never sought to cross-examine third-party witnesses because "[t]hese witnesses offered Boermeester nothing but danger" in view of Roe's initial statement and his admission of the central facts. (*Id.* at pp. 716-717 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.).)

In his dissent, Justice Wiley faulted the majority for relying on precedents addressing university procedures for evaluating allegations of sexual misconduct. (See Boermeester, supra, 49 Cal.App.5th at pp. 719-721 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.).) The dissent explained that the sexual misconduct cases "involve crossexamination when a woman and a man tell conflicting stories" and "[t]he accused man want[s] cross-examination to shake the woman's story." (Id. at p. 719 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.).) The dissent observed that here, by contrast, the two conflicting accounts both came from Roe herself (*ibid*.), and noted that it is common for the victim to recant in cases of domestic violence (id. at pp. 711-712 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.)). Finally, Justice Wiley observed that "[t]he cases to date all concern the right of confrontation when it could possibly have done the man some good," but "[n]o precedent deals with a situation where the man wanted to *avoid* confrontation because it offered him only peril." (*Id.* at p. 721 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.).)

Next, Justice Wiley took issue with the majority's application of constitutional due process principles to a private

institution because "[s]tate law governing private schools can depart from constitutional rules that govern state institutions." (*Boermeester*, *supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at p. 722 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.).)

The dissent observed that the new rules created by the majority and other recent intermediate appellate opinions could make victims less likely to report abuse. (*Boermeester*, *supra*, 49 Cal.App.5th at pp. 723-724 (dis. opn. of Wiley, J.).)

After the Court of Appeal summarily denied USC's petition for rehearing or to modify the decision, USC filed a petition for review. This Court granted the petition for review and ordered immediate depublication of the Court of Appeal's opinion.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. Common law fair procedure does not require live hearings with cross-examination, and the procedure by which USC investigated Boermeester's domestic violence was fair.
 - A. Private organizations need flexibility to conduct internal discipline, subject to the rudimentary common law requirements of notice and an opportunity to respond.

This Court has long recognized a common law doctrine of "fair procedure" applicable to the decisions of private organizations and associations that serve as gatekeepers to certain professions or otherwise affect their members' important economic interests. (E.g., Otto v. Tailors' Protective & Benevolent Union of San Francisco (1888) 75 Cal. 308, 314-315; see Ezekial, supra, 20 Cal.3d at p. 277; Pinsker v. Pacific Coast Society of

Orthodontists (1974) 12 Cal.3d 541, 550-551, fns. 7 & 8 (Pinsker II).) "The purpose of the common law right to fair procedure is to protect, in certain situations, against arbitrary decisions by private organizations." (Potvin v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. (2000) 22 Cal.4th 1060, 1066 (Potvin).)

Inherent in the common law fair procedure doctrine (which governs the disciplinary procedures used by private universities and many other private associations) is that private institutions "retain the initial and primary responsibility" for developing fair procedures. (Pinsker II, supra, 12 Cal.3d at p. 555; cf. El-Attar v. Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center (2013) 56 Cal.4th 976, 988-989 (El-Attar) [addressing procedural requirements in the context of the statutory scheme detailing procedures for hospital peer reviews].) "In drafting such procedure, and determining, for example, whether an applicant is to be given an opportunity to respond in writing or by personal appearance, the organization should consider the nature of the tendered issue and should fashion its procedure to insure a fair opportunity for an [individual] to present his position." (Pinsker II, at pp. 555-556, first emphasis added; accord, Ezekial, supra, 20 Cal.3d at p. 279.)

"[C]ourts remain available to afford relief in the event of the abuse of such discretion." (*Pinsker II*, *supra*, 12 Cal.3d at p. 556.) But judicial intervention in the decisions of private organizations is not, and should not be, routine. To the contrary, routine judicial intervention would constitute "'both an intrusion into the internal affairs of [private associations] and an unwise burden on judicial administration of the courts.'" (*Id.* at p. 557.)

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