#### Case No. S263180

In the

# Supreme Court of the State of California

#### MATTHEW BOERMEESTER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

#### AINSLEY CARRY et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION EIGHT, CASE NO. B290675 LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT, THE HONORABLE AMY D. HOGUE, CASE NO. BS170473

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

\*MARK M. HATHAWAY (151332) JENNA E. PARKER (303560) HATHAWAY PARKER 445 South Figueroa Street, 31st Floor Los Angeles, California 90071 (213) 529-9000 Telephone (213) 529-0783 Facsimile mark@hathawayparker.com jenna@hathawayparker.com

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

(*Hackethal v. Cal. Medical Assn.* (1982) 138 Cal.App.3d 435, 442 (impartial adjudicator must be included in fair procedure of private institution.)

Adequate notice of charges and a reasonable opportunity to respond are basic to both due process and fair procedure. (Applebaum v. Board of Directors, (1980) 104 Cal.App.3d 648, 657); Ezekial v. Winkley (1977) 20 Cal.3d 267 (a surgical resident in a private teaching hospital stated a cause of action under the "fair procedure" doctrine.); Pinsker v. Pac. Coast Soc. of Orthodontists (1969) 1 Cal.3d 160, 166 (fair procedure require a method that "comport[s] with the fundamentals of due process."); Anton v. San Antonio Community Hospital (1977) 19 Cal.3d 802; Pinsker v. Pac. Coast Soc. of Orthodontists (1974) 12 Cal. 3d 541; Applebaum v. Board of Directors (1980) 104 Cal. App. 3d 648; Goodstein v. Cedars-Sinai Medical Center (1998) 66 Cal. App. 4th 1257; Palm Medical Group, Inc. v. State Comp. Ins. Fund (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 206; Rosenblit v. Superior Court (1991) 231 Cal. App. 3d 1434; El-Attar v. Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center (2013) 56 Cal.4th 976, (right to neutral adjudicator among core protections under fair procedure); Lasko v. Valley Presbyterian Hospital (1986) 180 Cal.App.3d 519, 528–529 (impartial adjudicator must be included in fair procedure of private institution.); Kaiser Foundation Hospitals v. Superior Court

(2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 85, (core protections are "fundamental to any fair administrative remedy, whether the remedy is governed by principles of 'fair procedure' or 'due process".)

The same is true of the labor union and private society cases. When a private organization's procedures are "lacking in the essential elements of fairness, good faith, and candor, which should characterize the action of men passing upon the rights of their fellow men," courts should intervene. (Otto v. Journeymen Tailors' Protective & Benevolent Union (1888) 75 Cal. 308, 316; James v. Marinship Corp. (1944) 25 Cal.2d 721, 730; Dougherty v. Haag (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 315; Ellis v. American Fedn. Of Labor (1941) 48 Cal.App.2d 440; Von Arx v. San Francisco Gruetli Verein (1896) 113 Cal. 377, 379; Taboada v. Sociedad Espanola de Beneficencia Mutua (1923) 191 Cal. 187 (plaintiffs are entitled to the writ of mandamus restoring them to their privileges in the society); Wilson v. San Luis Obispo County Democratic Central Com. (2009) 175 Cal. App. 4th 489 (Plaintiff was afforded the basic requirements of common law fair procedure: adequate notice of the charges against her and a reasonable opportunity to respond.).)

The private organizations cases establish that common law fair procedure can require private universities to conduct live hearings with cross-examination.

# 5. Private Universities Remain Gatekeepers Under *Allee, Westmont,* Etc.

Private universities still remain as gatekeepers for entry to their institutions. The Court of Appeal cases regarding Title IX sexual misconduct discipline impose no burden on the "four essential freedoms' of a university--to determine for itself on academic grounds who may teach, what may be taught, how it shall be taught, and who may be admitted to study." (*Pomona College, supra,* 45 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1726-1727 (judicial review of tenure decisions in California is limited to evaluating the fairness of the administrative hearing in an administrative mandamus action); see also *Banks v. Dominican College* (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 1545; *Paulsen v. Golden Gate University* (1979) 25 Cal.3d 803.)

USC complains of burdensome procedures in student sexual misconduct cases but makes no showing of any actual harm or prejudice caused by providing accused students with fair procedures in sexual misconduct cases. In fact, the August 21, 2019 Senate Assembly Committee on Appropriations hearing on SB 493 assumed approximately 200 total sexual misconduct proceedings annually for the 767,000 students at the University of California and California State University. (See fn. 38, below.) Extrapolating for USC's 46,000 undergraduate, graduate, and professional students, USC holds approximately twelve sexual misconduct hearings each year.<sup>34</sup>

Title IX requires USC to take steps to address a hostile environment on campus, not severely punish accused students with suspension and expulsion. Title IX, SB 493, and the Court

<sup>34</sup> https://about.usc.edu/facts/; https://www2.calstate.edu/csu-system/about-the-csu/facts-about-the-csu/enrollment https://www.universityofcalifornia.edu/infocenter/fall-enrollment-glance

of Appeal decisions provide flexibility, however, "[i]t is ironic that an institution[s] of higher learning, where American history and government are taught, should stray so far from the principles that underlie our democracy." (*Doe v. Regents of University of California* (2018) 28 Cal.App.5th 44, 61.)

### B. Improper Deference to Private Institutions

It should be noted that USC does not object to preferential treatment afforded public universities when it comes to the presumption of correctness, presumption of impartiality,<sup>35</sup> and the limitations placed upon independent judgment review of government agency decisions under Code Civ. Proc., § 1094.5. This deference of the judicial branch to governmental agency administrative decisions is born of the doctrine of separation of powers and the official duty presumption. (See *Bixby v. Pierno* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 130, 140 (*Bixby*) ("The doctrine of separation of governmental powers under the California Constitution provides both independent judgment and substantial evidence review of administrative decisions."); *Fukuda v. City of Angels* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 805, 812 (*Fukuda*) (findings of a state board where formal hearings are held come before courts with a strong presumption

Morongo Band of Mission Indians v. State Water Resources Control Bd. (2009) 45 Cal.4th 731, 741-742 ("[T]he presumption of impartiality can be overcome only by specific evidence demonstrating actual bias or a particular combination of circumstances creating an unacceptable risk of bias. Unless such evidence is produced, we remain confident that state administrative agency adjudicators will evaluate factual and legal arguments on their merits, applying the law to the evidence in the record to reach fair and reasonable decisions.")

of correctness based primarily on the presumption "that official duty has been regularly performed"); Evid. Code, § 664.)

Private colleges and private universities are not governmental agencies that have been granted judicial powers by the constitution or by the Legislature, nor are their private employees entitled to the official duty presumption under Evid. Code, § 664. There is no justification for the courts to distinguish the process due to students at public universities versus private universities, while at the same time deferring to the decisions made by private universities as though they are governmental agencies performing an official duty. USC serves its own private institutional and financial interests, not the interests of the general public, nor the People of the State of California, and its administrators and Title IX personnel are not public officials. The preference given to one private litigant over the rights of the other, i.e., favoring USC over Mr. Boermeester, is inconsistent with the precept of equal protection under the law embedded in the constitutions of this state and of the United States.

# II. MR. BOERMEESTER DID NOT WAIVE HIS RIGHT TO CROSS-EXAMINATION

Three thousand years ago King Solomon acknowledged that "in a lawsuit the first to speak seems right until someone comes forward and cross-examines." (Proverbs 18:17 (NJV).) More recently cross-examination has been described as "the greatest legal engine ever invented" for uncovering the truth. (*Baum*, supra, 903 F.3d at p. 581.)

USC's policy, however, precluded any opportunity for accused students to cross-examine any witnesses. (2 AR 478.) Mr. Boermeester did not waive any right; the right was not permitted under USC's policy. Mr. Boermeester was following USC's established rules and procedures and USC did not allow for questioning of witnesses at an in-person hearing before impartial deciders.

In fact, Mr. Boermeester had questions for Ms. Katz and asked that his questions be provided verbatim to her, and that her complete, unfiltered answers be returned to him. (1 AR 293-294.) USC denied his request because the "process does not afford that." (1 AR 293.) Mr. Boermeester did not forego any legal procedures to which he might be entitled under USC's policy. (See, *Samaan v. Trs. of Cal. State Univ. & Colleges* (1983) 150 Cal.App.3d 646, 659.)

The cumbersome procedure of submitting questions to an adverse party, <sup>36</sup> to be approved and modified by the adverse party, and then posed by the adverse party to a witness in private with no record, is not at all equivalent to the back-and-forth cross-examination of a witness before a neutral/impartial adjudicator. (*Baum*, *supra*, 903 F.3d at p. 582.)

Mr. Boermeester had no obligation nor ability to compel USC to provide for procedures outside of USC's policies,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> USC's Title IX Office was the complaining party against Mr. Boermeester and directly adverse to him. (1 AR 1.) Ms. Katz was nominally the "Reporting Party" under USC's policy. (2 AR 479.) USC Title IX Office cannot be said to be impartial under the circumstances.

especially those not supported by case or statutory law at the time. (People v. Brooks (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1, 92 (no requirement "to raise an issue at trial where an objection would have been futile or wholly unsupported by substantive law then in existence"); Corenbaum v. Lampkin (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 1308, 1334 (right to raise an issue for the first time on appeal if it is based upon a change in the law that was not reasonably foreseeable); Farahani v. San Diego Community College Dist. (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 1486, 1497 (recognizing that a party is excused from exhausting applicable administrative remedies where the reviewing agency has already rejected the party's claim or announced its position on the claim).) Students should not have to ask for fair procedures during university disciplinary adjudications.

USC's cited authorities are not directly on point. (See, Doers v. Golden Gate Bridge etc. Dist. (1979) 23 Cal.3d 180, 183 (mere filing of a lawsuit does not constitute a waiver of the right to arbitrate); Niles Freeman Equipment v. Joseph (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 765, 766 (analyzing principles of estoppel and waiver under Evid. Code, § 623); Sierra Club v. San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Com. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 489, 510 (judicial review of a final decision of an administrative agency is not necessarily affected by the party's failure to file a request for reconsideration or rehearing before that agency); Anton v. San Antonio Community Hospital (1977) 19 Cal.3d 802, 826; Samaan v. Trs. of Cal. State Univ. & Colleges (1983) 150 Cal.App.3d 646, 659; Doe v. Occidental College (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 208, 225.)

# III. THE ERROR IN FAILING TO PROVIDE A LIVE HEARING, CROSS-EXAMINATION, AND IMPARTIAL DECIDERS WAS NOT HARMLESS.

### 1. USC's Errors Were Extremely Consequential

USC's disciplinary decision depended primarily on assessing witness credibility, but the issue of cross-examination was compounded by USC's failure to provide impartial deciders under a fair procedure. Here, the deciders were the prosecutors.

To set the record straight, Mr. Boermeester did not admit to grabbing Zoe Katz's neck. He admitted to "putting [his] hand on her neck" in a joking way that was "normal" for him and Zoe Katz. (1 AR 173-174, 179.) He stated, "I wasn't choking her or slamming her head on a wall. She would be on the other side of me [in investigation] if I did." (1 AR 173.) Mr. Boermeester did not admit to pushing Ms. Katz against a wall but did confess to standing next to a wall while Zoe Katz was "against it." (1 AR 173, 175, 181.)

The security video was inconclusive, but consistent with Ms. Katz' and Mr. Boermeester's account of horseplay and trying to be funny. DH saw Mr. Boermeester and Ms. Katz at the wall for "about three seconds." (1 AR 95.) Mr Boermeester was "holding her against the wall" "with his hand on her chest/neck" and "Ms. Katz was trying to talk to him." (1 AR 95.) DH's testimony is consistent with what Mr. Boermeester told the USC Title IX Office on January 30, 2017 (1 AR 179) and consistent with the video. (1 AR 190.) The information that MB2 provided over the phone on February 3, 2017 was also consistent with the video and Mr. Boermeester's statement. (1 AR 131; 1 AR 190.)

As of mid-March 2017, USC's Title IX prosecutors had four witnesses and a video tape that all tended to support what Mr. Boermeester and Ms. Katz had been saying, that Mr. Boermeester had been drinking, was yelling and trying to be funny, and the two were horsing around in the alley and that Ms. Katz suffered no physical harm.

On March 14, 2017, MB2's purportedly changed statement over the telephone gave USC Title IX prosecutors what they needed. MB2 now admitted lying to USC Title IX and to Mr. Boermeester's attorney, and his new claims were at signiciant odds with his initial description of events, including his interaction with Ms. Katz a few days after. (1 AR 85-86.) MB2's lack of credibility is obvious, yet there was little inquiry in the record by the investigator and no opportunity for Mr. Boermeester to question MB2, such as, "What have you heard about the case in the previous month?" "Have you spoken with anyone about the case against Mr. Boermeester?" "What news articles have you read or seen?" "How is your apartment situated?" "Can you see the alley from inside your apartment?" "What were you doing when you heard the laughing and screaming?" "Were you wearing your contacts?" "Glasses?" "Why does the surveillance video support your version of events that you told over the phone on February 3, 2017 but not the version you told over the phone on March 14, 2017?" "Have you heard that there is surveillance video?" "What are your comments on viewing the video?" "When did you first want to 'beat the shit out of this guy?" "How could you see fear in Ms.

Katz' eyes from where you were?" "Did you know that DH and TS, who know Ms. Katz more than vaguely, said that Ms. Katz never expressed fear of Mr. Boermeester?" "Did you actually say the words in quotes by the interviewer, 'He domestically was abusing her'?" "Was that something the investigator suggested to you?"

Regarding the alleged violation of the Avoidance of Contact Order, both Mr. Boermeester and Ms. Katz maintained that Mr. Boermeester complied with the Avoidance of Contact Order. (1 AR 53.) Witnesses who supposedly overheard Ms. Katz speaking with Mr. Boermeester via cell phone could have easily been mistaken. Mr. Boermeester's advisor's knowledge that Ms. Katz had been shown the surveillance video during her Evidence Review more likely came from speaking with the attorney Ms. Katz hired to protect herself from the Title IX office. Emails show that Mr. Boermeester and Ms. Katz were both respectful of USC's Avoidance of Contact order. (1 AR 271, 2 AR 321-322.)

Cross-examination of Ms. Katz and MB2 in a live hearing before *impartial deciders* was crucial to Mr. Boermeester's presentation of his defense. Impartial deciders would be able to determine whether Ms. Katz was credible in her claims of mistreatment and false statements by USC Title IX Office, that she was not a "classic" "textbook" domestic abuse victim, and that she had no physical harm from the horsplay in the alley. Impartial deciders would be able to determine whether MB2 was lying the first time or the second time he spoke to USC Title IX.

Mr. Boermeester faced the devastating loss of his education, his NFL prospects, professional future, and reputation in a Title IX administrative process with no rules of evidence and a low burden of proof that is often described as "50% plus a feather." While Mr. Boermeester was fighting for "feathers" of evidence to prove his innocence, USC Title IX prosecutors were working to take "feathers" away.

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